
IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA 
 

* * * 
SCOTT CANARELLI, Beneficiary of The 
Scott Lyle Graves Canarelli Irrevocable Trust, 
dated February 24, 1998, 
 

Petitioner, 
 
v. 
 
THE EIGHTH JUDICIAL DISTRICT 
COURT, in and for the County of Clark, State 
of Nevada, and THE HONORABLE JUDGE 
BELL, District Judge,  
 

Respondents, 
 
And 
 
LAWRENCE and HEIDI CANARELLI, and 
FRANK MARTIN, Special Administrator of 
the Estate of Edward C. Lubbers, Former 
Trustees, 
 

Real Party in Interest.  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
   Case No.  

District Court Case No.  
P-13-078912-T 

 
_________________________ 

PETITIONER’S 
APPENDIX TO PETITION 

FOR WRIT OF 
MANDAMUS OR 
PROHIBITION 

(VOLUME 7 OF 7) 

 
Dana A. Dwiggins (#7049) 
Craig D. Friedel (#13873) 

SOLOMON DWIGGINS & FREER, 
LTD. 

9060 West Cheyenne Avenue 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89129 

Telephone: (702) 853-5483 
Facsimile: (702) 853-5485 
ddwiggins@sdfnvlaw.com 

cfriedel@sdfnvlaw.com 
 

Attorneys for Petitioner 

 
Daniel F. Polsenberg (#2376) 
Abraham G. Smith (#13250) 

LEWIS ROCA ROTHGERBER 
CHRISTIE LLP 

3993 Howard Hughes Pkwy., Suite 600 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89169 

Telephone: (702) 474-2689 
Facsimile: (702) 949-8398 

dpolsenberg@lrrc.com 
asmith@lrrc.com 

 
Attorneys for Petitioner 

Electronically Filed
Jan 08 2021 03:19 p.m.
Elizabeth A. Brown
Clerk of Supreme Court

Docket 82299   Document 2021-00671



i 
 
4829-3646-2037, v. 1 

CHRONOLOGICAL TABLE OF CONTENTS 

TAB DOCUMENT DATE PAGES 
1 

(Vol. 1) 
ESI Protocol 12/15/17 APP000001-

APP000013 
2 

(Vol. 1) 
Motion for Determination of Privilege 
Designation of RESP013284-
RESP013288 and RESP78899-
RESP78900 - Redacted per 09/26/18 
Order and refiled on 10/18/2018  

 

07/13/2018 
(Originally 

filed)  
 

APP000014-
APP000035 

2 
(Vol. 1) 

Exhibit 1 – RESP013284-
RESP013288  

 APP000036- 
APP000037 

2 
(Vol. 1) 

Exhibit 2 – RESP78899-RESP78900   APP000038- 
APP000039 

2 
(Vol. 1) 

Exhibit 3 – ESI Protocol Dated 
December 15, 2017  

 APP000040- 
APP000053 

2 
(Vol. 1) 

Exhibit 4 – Letter Dated June 5, 
2018 from Elizabeth Brickfield to 
Dana Dwiggins Claiming Privilege 
of RESP013284-RESP013288 

 APP000054- 
APP000056 

2 
(Vol. 1) 

Exhibit 5 – Letter Dated June 12, 
2018 from Dana Dwiggins to 
Elizabeth Brickfield Responding to 
June 5, 2018 Letter 

 APP000057- 
APP000058  

2 
(Vol. 1) 

Exhibit 6 – Letter Dated June 12, 
2018 from Elizabeth Brickfield to 
Dana Dwiggins Responding to June 
5, 2018 Letter  

 APP000059- 
APP000061 

2 
(Vol. 1) 

Exhibit 7 – Letter Dated June 18, 
2018 from Dana Dwiggins to 
Elizabeth Brickfield Responding to 
June 12, 2018 Letter  

 APP000062- 
APP000063 

2 
(Vol. 1) 

Exhibit 8 – Letter Dated June 18, 
2018 from Colby Williams to Dana 
Dwiggins re Inadvertent Disclosure 

 APP000064- 
APP000066 

2 
(Vol. 1) 

Exhibit 9 – Letter Dated June 19, 
2018 from Dana Dwiggins to Colby 
Williams Responding to June 18, 
2018 Letter 

 APP000067- 
APP000069 



ii 
 
4829-3646-2037, v. 1 

TAB DOCUMENT DATE PAGES 
2 

(Vol. 1) 
Exhibit 10 – Letter Dated June 20, 
2018 from Colby Williams to Dana 
Dwiggins Responding to June 19, 
2018 Letter 

 APP000070- 
APP000072 

2 
(Vol. 1) 

Exhibit 11 – Letter Dated June 25, 
2018 from Dana Dwiggins to Colby 
Responding to June 20, 2018 Letter  

 APP000073- 
APP000076 

2 
(Vol. 1) 

Exhibit 12 – Email Communication 
re “Defer Payment Email and 
Memo.” 

 APP000077- 
APP000078 

3 
(Vol. 1) 

Respondents’ Opposition to Motion for 
Determination of Privilege Designation 
of RESP013284-013288 and 
RESP078899-0789900 and 
Countermotion for Remediation of 
Improperly Disclosed Attorney-Client 
Privileged and Work Product Protected 
Materials – Redacted  

08/10/2018 APP000079- 
APP000114 

 

3 
(Vol. 1) 

Declaration of J. Colby Williams  APP000115- 
APP000126 

3 
(Vol. 1) 

Exhibit 1 – Petition to Assume 
Jurisdiction Over the Scott Lyle 
Graves Canarelli Irrevocable Trust; 
to Confirm Edward C. Lubbers as 
Family and Independent Trustee; for 
an Inventory and Accounting; to 
Compel an Independent Valuation a 
of the Trust Assets Subject to the 
Purchase Agreement, Dated May 31, 
2013; and to Authorize and Direct 
the Trustee and Former Trustee to 
Provide Settlor/Beneficiary with any 
and all Information and Documents 
Concerning the Sale of the Trust’s 
Assets Under Such Purchase 
Agreement 

 APP000127- 
APP000143 



iii 
 
4829-3646-2037, v. 1 

TAB DOCUMENT DATE PAGES 
3 

(Vol. 1) 
Exhibit 2 – Letter Dated November 
14, 2012 from Mark Solomon to 
Edward Lubbers re Distributions  

 APP000144- 
APP000146 

3 
(Vol. 1) 

Exhibit 3 – Email Communications 
re Redactions and Confidentiality 
Order 

 APP000147- 
APP000151 

3 
(Vol. 1) 

Exhibit 4 – Email Communications 
re Agenda 

 APP000152- 
APP000154 

3 
(Vol. 1) 

Declaration of David S. Lee   APP000155- 
APP000157 

3 
(Vol. 1) 

Declaration of Charlene N. Renwick  APP000158- 
APP000160 

3 
(Vol. 1) 

Exhibit 5 - Billing Statement of Lee, 
Hernandez, Landrum, Garofalo & 
Blake 

 APP000161- 
APP000666 

3 
(Vol. 1) 

Exhibit 6 – Stipulation and Order 
Appointing Valuation Expert and 
Clarifying order 

 APP000167- 
APP000171 

3 
(Vol. 1) 

Exhibit 7 – Letter Dated December 
6, 2013 from Mark Solomon to 
Colby Williams re Accountings  

 APP000172- 
APP000173 

3 
(Vol. 1) 

Exhibit 8 – Letter Dated December 
9, 2014 from Alan Freer to Colby 
Williams re Accounting Dropbox 

 APP000174- 
APP000176 

3 
(Vol. 1) 

Exhibit 8 – Letter Dated December 
12, 2014 from Colby Williams to 
Alan Freer Responding to December 
9, 2014 Letter 

 APP000177- 
APP000180 

3 
(Vol. 1) 

Exhibit 9 – Consent to Use of Tax 
Return Information – Filed Under 
Seal 

 APP000181 

3 
(Vol. 1) 

Exhibit 10 – Petitioner’s Response to 
Respondents’ Objections to the 
Discovery Commissioner’s April 20, 
2013 Report and Recommendations 

 APP000182- 
APP000186 

3 
(Vol. 1) 

Exhibit 11 – Confidentiality 
Agreement Dated September 16, 
2016 

 APP000187- 
APP000192 



iv 
 
4829-3646-2037, v. 1 

TAB DOCUMENT DATE PAGES 
4 

(Vol. 2) 
Reply to Opposition to Motion for 
Determination of Privilege Designation 
of RESP013284-013288 and 
RESP078899-0789900 and Opposition 
to Countermotion for Remediation of 
Improperly Disclosed Attorney-Client 
Privileged and Work Product Protected 
Materials - Redacted per 09/26/18 
Order and refiled 10/18/2018  

08/24/2018 
(Originally 

filed) 

APP000193- 
APP000224 

4 
(Vol. 2) 

Exhibit 1 – Letter Dated December 
30, 2015 from Mark Solomon to 
Colby Williams re Settlement 
Communications  

 APP000225- 
APP000228 

4 
(Vol. 2) 

Exhibit 2 – First Page of Petition to 
Assume Jurisdiction Over the Scott 
Canarelli Protection Trust; to 
Confirm Trustees; to Compel the 
Production of a Fully Executed Copy 
of the Trust and to Compel an 
Inventory and an Accounting  

 APP000229- 
APP000230 

4 
(Vol. 2) 

Exhibit 3 – First Page of Petition to 
Assume Jurisdiction Over the Scott 
Lyle Graves Canarelli Irrevocable 
Trust – Secondary Trust; to Confirm 
Trustee; and to Compel an Inventory 
and an Accounting  

 APP000231- 
APP000232 

4 
(Vol. 2) 

Exhibit 4 – Letter Dated February 
16, 2018 from Joel Schwarz to Dana 
Dwiggins re Clawback of 
RESP045293 

 APP000233- 
APP000234 

4 
(Vol. 2) 

Exhibit 5 – Letter Dated February 
19, 2018 from Joel Schwarz to Dana 
Dwiggins re Clawback of Various 
Documents Related to the Attorney 
Client/Accountant Client Privilege  

 APP000235- 
APP000236 

4 
(Vol. 2) 

Exhibit 6 – Letter Dated August 13, 
2018 from Colby Williams to the 
Honorable Gloria Sturman Notifying 

 APP000237- 
APP000244 



v 
 
4829-3646-2037, v. 1 

TAB DOCUMENT DATE PAGES 
Her of Inappropriateness of Review 
of Notes 

4 
(Vol. 2) 

Exhibit 7 – Transcript of All 
Pending Motions Dated March 2, 
2018 Before the Honorable Bonnie 
Bulla, Discovery Commissioner 

 APP000245- 
APP000248 

4 
(Vol. 2) 

Exhibit 8 – Scott L. Graves Canarelli 
IRRV – Detail General Leger as of 
May 23, 2014 

 APP000249- 
APP000252 

5 
(Vol. 2) 

Discovery Commissioner’s Report and 
Recommendation on (1) The Motion for 
Determination of Privilege Designation, 
(2) The Supplemental Briefing on 
Appreciation Damages 

12/06/2018 APP000253- 
APP000265 

6 
(Vol. 2) 

Respondents’ Objections, In Part, to the 
Discovery Commissioner’s Report and 
Recommendations on Motion for 
Determination of Privilege Designation 

12/17/2018 APP000266- 
APP000287 

6 
(Vol. 2) 

Exhibit 1 – August 29, 2018 
Transcript of Proceeding re All 
Pending Motions and Additional 
Briefing Before the Honorable 
Bonnie Bulla, Discovery 
Commissioner 

 APP000288- 
APP000376 

6 
(Vol. 2) 

Exhibit 2 – Discovery 
Commissioner’s Report and 
Recommendations on (1) The 
Motion for Determination of 
Privilege Designation, (2) the 
Supplemental Briefing on 
Appreciation Damages 

 APP000377- 
APP000390 

7 
(Vol. 3) 

Petitioner’s Objection to the Discovery 
Commissioner’s Report and 
Recommendations on (1) The Motion 
for Determination of Privilege 
Designation, (2) the Supplemental 
Briefing on Appreciation Damages 

12/17/2018 APP000391- 
APP000436 



vi 
 
4829-3646-2037, v. 1 

TAB DOCUMENT DATE PAGES 
7 

(Vol. 3) 
Exhibit 1 – Discovery 
Commissioner’s Report and 
Recommendations on (1) the 
Motion for Determination of 
Privilege Designation, (2) the 
Supplemental Briefing on 
Appreciation Damages 

 APP000437- 
APP000450 

7 
(Vol. 3) 

Exhibit 2 – RESP013284-
RESP013288  

 APP000451- 
APP000452 

7 
(Vol. 3) 

Exhibit 3 – RESP78899-
RESP78900  

 APP000453- 
APP000454 

7 
(Vol. 3) 

Exhibit 4 – Edward Lubbers, 
Lawrence Canarelli, and Heidi 
Canarelli’s Second Supplement to 
Initial Disclosures of Witnesses 
and Documents Pursuant to NRCP 
16.1 

 APP000455- 
APP000458 

7 
(Vol. 3) 

Exhibit 5 – RESP088954-
RESP088958  

 APP000459- 
APP000460 

7 
(Vol. 3) 

Exhibit 6 – Edward Lubbers, 
Lawrence Canarelli, and Heidi 
Canarelli’s Initial Disclosures of 
Witnesses and Documents 
Pursuant to NRCP 16.1 

 APP000461- 
APP000464 

7 
(Vol. 3) 

Exhibit 7 – August 29, 2018 
Transcript of Proceeding re All 
Pending Motions and Additional 
Briefing Before the Honorable 
Bonnie Bulla, Discovery 
Commissioner  

 APP000465- 
APP000496 

7 
(Vol. 3) 

Exhibit 8 – Email Communications 
Dated November 2, 2018 re 
Clawback Request  

 APP000497- 
APP000498 

7 
(Vol. 3) 

Exhibit 9 – Ed Lubbers’ Cover 
Sheet re Correspondence, Notes 
and Memos  

 APP000499- 
APP000500 

7 
(Vol. 3) 

Exhibit 10 – Email 
Communications Dated June 14, 

 APP000501- 
APP000502 



vii 
 
4829-3646-2037, v. 1 

TAB DOCUMENT DATE PAGES 
2018 re Telephone Call re 
Privilege 

7 
(Vol. 3) 

Exhibit 11 – Letter from Joel 
Schwarz to Dana Dwiggins re 
Discovery Issues 

 APP000503- 
AP0000507 

8 
(Vol. 3) 

Stipulation and Order Regarding 
Discovery Commissioner’s Report and 
Recommendations on (1) The Motion 
for Determination of Privilege 
Designation, (2) the Supplemental 
Briefing on Appreciation Damages 

01/03/2019 APP000508- 
APP000511 

9 
(Vol. 3) 

August 29, 2018 Court Minutes re All 
Pending Motions 

01/07/2019  APP000512- 
APP000516 

10 
(Vol. 3) 

Errata to Petitioner’s Objection to the 
Discovery Commissioner’s Report and 
Recommendations on (1) The Motion 
for Determination of Privilege 
Designation, (2) the Supplemental 
Briefing on Appreciation Damages 

01/11/2019 APP000517- 
APP000520 

10 
(Vol. 3) 

Exhibit 12 – March 29, 2018 
Transcript of Hearing on Petition to 
Approve Accountings for Years 
2014, 2015, and 2016; Motion to 
Stay Respondents’ Emergency 
Motion for a Stay Pending 
Bankruptcy Court Hearing on 
Motion to Reopen; Objection to 
Respondents’ Emergency Motion for 
a Stay Pending Bankruptcy Court 
Hearing to Reopen, Countermotion 
for Sanctions Against Respondents’ 
Counsel and Countermotion for 
Attorneys’ Fees and Costs Before 
the Honorable Gloria Sturman, 
District Court Judge 

 APP000521- 
APP000524 

11 
(Vol. 3) 

Respondents’ Opposition to Petitioner’s 
Objection to the Discovery 
Commissioner’s Report and 

01/14/2019 APP000525- 
APP000575 



viii 
 
4829-3646-2037, v. 1 

TAB DOCUMENT DATE PAGES 
Recommendations on (1) the Motion 
for Determination of Privilege 
Designation, (2) the Supplemental 
Briefing on Appreciation Damages 

11 
(Vol. 3) 

Exhibit 1 – Email Communications 
Dated November 2, 2018 re 
Clawback Request 

 APP000576- 
APP000578 

12 
(Vol. 3) 

Opposition to Respondents’ Objections, 
in Part, to Discovery Commissioner’s 
Report and Recommendations on 
Motion for Determination of Privilege 
Designation  

01/14/2019 APP000579- 
APP000605 

12 
(Vol. 3) 

Exhibit 1 – August 29, 2018 
Transcript of Proceedings re All 
Pending Motions and Additional 
Briefing Before the Honorable 
Bonnie Bulla, Discovery 
Commissioner 

 APP000606- 
APP000615 

12 
(Vol. 3) 

Exhibit 2 – Letter Dated August 13, 
2018 from Colby Williams to the 
Honorable Gloria Sturman Notifying 
her of Inappropriateness of 
Reviewing Privileged Notes 

 APP000616- 
APP000623 

13 
(Vol. 3) 

Discovery Commissioner Report and 
Recommendations on (1) The Motion 
for Determination of Privilege 
Designation, (2) the Supplemental 
Briefing on Appreciation Damages 

01/22/2019 APP000624- 
APP000636 

14 
(Vol. 3) 

Errata to Petitioner’s Opposition to 
Respondents’ Objections, In Part, to the 
Discovery Commissioner’s Report and 
Recommendations on Motion for 
Determination of Privilege Designation 

02/01/2019 APP000637- 
APP000639 

15 
(Vol. 4) 

Reply in Support of Petitioner’s 
Objection to the Discovery 
Commissioner’s Report and 
Recommendations on (1) the Motion 
for Determination of Privilege 

03/21/2019 APP000640- 
APP000678 



ix 
 
4829-3646-2037, v. 1 

TAB DOCUMENT DATE PAGES 
Designation, (2) the Supplemental 
Briefing on Appreciation Damages 

15 
(Vol. 4) 

Exhibit 1 – August 29, 2018 
Transcript of Proceeding re All 
Pending Motions and Additional 
Briefing Before the Honorable 
Bonnie Bulla, Discovery 
Commissioner 

 APP000679- 
APP000687 

15 
(Vol. 4) 

Exhibit 2 – Edward Lubbers, 
Lawrence Canarelli, and Heidi 
Canarelli’s Tenth Supplement to 
Initial Disclosures of Witnesses and 
Documents Pursuant to NRCP 16.1 

 APP000688- 
APP000726 

15 
(Vol. 4) 

Exhibit 3 – Letter Dated February 
16, 2018 from Joel Schwarz to Dana 
Dwiggins re Clawback of 
RESP045293 

 APP000727- 
APP000728 

16 
(Vol. 4) 

Respondents’ Reply in Support of 
Objections, In Part, to Discovery 
Commissioner’s Report and 
Recommendations on Motion for 
Determination of Privilege Designation  

03/21/2019 APP000729- 
APP000750 

17 
(Vol. 5) 

April 11, 2019 Recorder’s Transcript of 
Pending Motions Before the Honorable 
Gloria Sturman, District Court Judge 

04/11/2019 APP000751- 
APP000891 

18 
(Vol. 5) 

Order on the Parties’ Objections to the 
Discovery Commissioner’s Report and 
Recommendation on the Motion for 
Privilege Designation 

05/31/2019 APP000892- 
APP000895 

19 
(Vol. 5) 

Respondents’ Motion to Disqualify the 
Honorable Gloria Sturman 

06/08/2020 APP000896- 
APP000909 

19 
(Vol. 5) 

Declaration of J. Colby Williams  APP000910- 
APP000912 

19 
(Vol. 5) 

Exhibit 1 – Supreme Court Opinion  APP000913- 
APP000931 

19 
(Vol. 5) 

Exhibit 2 – Letter Dated August 13, 
2018 from Colby Williams to the 
Honorable Gloria Sturman Notifying 

 APP000932- 
APP000939 



x 
 
4829-3646-2037, v. 1 

TAB DOCUMENT DATE PAGES 
her of Inappropriateness of 
Reviewing Handwritten Notes 

19 
(Vol. 5) 

Exhibit 3 – April 11, 2019 Hearing 
Transcript of Pending Motions 
Before the Honorable Gloria 
Sturman, District Court Judge 

 APP000940- 
APP000960 

19 
(Vol. 5) 

Exhibit 4 – Notice of Entry of Order 
on the Parties’ Objections to the 
Discovery Commissioner’s Report 
and Recommendation on the Motion 
for Privilege Designation  

 APP000961- 
APP000967 

20 
(Vol. 6) 

Opposition to Respondents’ Motion to 
Disqualify the Honorable Gloria 
Sturman and Countermotion for Waiver 
of Attorney-Client Privilege Due to 
Reckless Disclosure 

06/29/2020 APP000968- 
APP000997 

21 
(Vol. 6) 

Appendix of Exhibits to Opposition to 
Respondents’ Motion to Disqualify the 
Honorable Gloria Sturman and 
Countermotion for Waiver of Attorney-
Client Privilege Due to Reckless 
Disclosure  

06/29/2020 APP000998- 
APP001001 

21 
(Vol. 6) 

Exhibit A – Declaration of Dana A. 
Dwiggins 

 APP001002- 
APP001015 

21 
(Vol. 6) 

Exhibit 1- Confidentiality 
Agreement Dated September 22, 
2016 

 APP001016- 
APP001021 

21 
(Vol. 6) 

Exhibit 2 – ESI Protocol Dated 
December 15, 2017 

 APP001022- 
APP001035 

21 
(Vol. 6) 

Exhibit 3 – Request to Claw Back 
Documents Dated June 29, 2020 

 APP001036- 
APP001040 

21 
(Vol. 6) 

Exhibit 4 – Timeline of Events  APP001041- 
APP001044 

21 
(Vol. 6) 

Exhibit 5 – Edward Lubbers, 
Lawrence Canarelli, and Heidi 
Canarelli’s Initial Disclosures of 
Witnesses and Documents Pursuant 
to NRCP 16.1 

 APP001045- 
APP001051 



xi 
 
4829-3646-2037, v. 1 

TAB DOCUMENT DATE PAGES 
21 

(Vol. 6) 
Exhibit 6 – Objections and 
Responses to Scott Canarelli’s First 
Request for Production of 
Documents to Edward Lubbers 

 APP001052- 
APP001066 

21 
(Vol. 6) 

Exhibit 7 – Supplemental Objections 
and Responses to Scott Canarelli’s 
First Request for Production of 
Documents to Edward Lubbers 

 APP001067- 
APP001073 

21 
(Vol. 6) 

Exhibit 8 – Letter Dated February 
16, 2018 from Joel Schwarz to Dana 
Dwiggins re Clawback of 
RESP045293 

 APP001074- 
APP001075 

21 
(Vol. 6) 

Exhibit 9 – Privilege Log  APP001076- 
APP001086 

21 
(Vol. 6) 

Exhibit 10 – Letter Dated February 
19, 2018 from Joel Schwarz to Dana 
Dwiggins re Claw Back of Attorney 
Client/Accountant Client Privilege 

 APP001087- 
APP001088 

21 
(Vol. 6) 

Exhibit 11 – August 29, 2018 
Transcript of Proceeding re All 
Pending Motions and Additional 
Briefing Before the Honorable 
Bonnie Bulla, Discovery 
Commissioner 

 APP001089- 
APP001101 

21 
(Vol. 6) 

Exhibit 12 – Letter Dated June 5, 
2018 from Elizabeth Brickfield to 
Dana Dwiggins re Claw Back of 
RESP013284-RESP013288 

 APP001102- 
APP001104 

21 
(Vol. 6) 

Exhibit 13 – Edward Lubbers, 
Lawrence Canarelli, and Heidi 
Canarelli’s Second Supplement to 
Initial Disclosures of Witnesses and 
Documents Pursuant to NRCP 16.1 

 APP001105- 
APP001108 

21 
(Vol. 6) 

Exhibit 14 – Privilege Log Dated 
June 12, 2018 

 APP001109- 
APP001121 

21 
(Vol. 6) 

Exhibit 15 – Sixth Supplemental 
Objections and Responses to Scott 
Canarelli’s First Request for 

 APP001122- 
APP001126 



xii 
 
4829-3646-2037, v. 1 

TAB DOCUMENT DATE PAGES 
Production of Documents to Edward 
Lubbers 

21 
(Vol. 6) 

Exhibit 16 – Letter Dated June 18, 
2018 from Colby Williams to Dana 
Dwiggins re Clawback of 
RESP0078884-RESP0078932 

 APP001127- 
APP001129 

21 
(Vol. 6) 

Exhibit 17 – Letter Dated June 19, 
2018 from Dana Dwiggins to Colby 
Williams Responding to June 18, 
2018 Letter 

 APP001130- 
APP001132 

21 
(Vol. 6) 

Exhibit 18 – Letter Dated June 22, 
2018 from Elizabeth Brickfield to 
Dana Dwiggins Clawback of 
Additional Documents 

 APP001133- 
APP001135 

21 
(Vol. 6) 

Exhibit 19 – Email Communications 
Dated July 5, 2018 re Potential 
Privileged Documents 

 APP001136- 
APP001141 

21 
(Vol. 6) 

Exhibit 20 – Email Communication 
Dated November 2, 2018 re 
Clawback Request 

 APP001142- 
APP001144 

21 
(Vol. 6) 

Exhibit 21 – Letter Dated June 19, 
2019 from Colby Williams to Dana 
Dwiggins re Clawback of Additional 
Documents 

 APP001145- 
APP001146 

21 
(Vol. 6) 

Exhibit 22 – Letter Dated June 20, 
2019 from Dana Dwiggins to Colby 
Williams Responding to June 19, 
2019 Letter 

 APP001147- 
APP001148 

21 
(Vol. 6) 

Exhibit 23 – Email Communications 
Dated June 2, 2020 re Non-
Privileged Documents 

 APP001149- 
APP001152 

21 
(Vol. 6) 

Exhibit 24 – Letter Dated June 15, 
2020 from Dana Dwiggins to Colby 
Williams re Notification of 
Privileged Document   

 APP001153- 
APP001154 

21 
(Vol. 6) 

Exhibit 25 – Email Communications 
Dated June 16, 2020 re Inadvertent 
Disclosure of Documents 

 APP001155- 
APP001158 



xiii 
 
4829-3646-2037, v. 1 

TAB DOCUMENT DATE PAGES 
21 

(Vol. 6) 
Exhibit 26 – Email Communications 
Dated June 22, 2020 re Inadvertent 
Disclosure of Documents 

 APP001159- 
APP001166 

21 
(Vol. 6) 

Exhibit B – Declaration of Erin L. 
Hansen 

 APP001167- 
APP001169 

21 
(Vol. 6) 

Exhibit 1 – Search Term 
“Acquiescence” 

 APP001170- 
APP001178 

21 
(Vol. 6) 

Exhibit 2 – Search Term “Renwick”  APP001179- 
APP001184 

22 
(Vol. 6) 

Answer to Respondents Motion to 
Disqualify Gloria Sturman 

07/07/2020 APP001185- 
APP001190 

23 
(Vol. 6) 

Respondents’ Reply in Support of 
Motion to Disqualify the Honorable 
Gloria Sturman and Opposition to 
Countermotion for Waiver of the 
Attorney Client Privilege 

07/13/2020 APP001191- 
APP001217 

24 
(Vol. 7) 

Appendix of Exhibits to Respondents’ 
Reply in Support of Motion to 
Disqualify the Honorable Gloria 
Sturman and Opposition to 
Countermotion for Waiver of the 
Attorney Client Privilege  

07/13/2020 APP001218- 
APP001220 

24 
(Vol. 7) 

Exhibit – Declaration of J. Colby 
Williams 

 APP001221- 
APP001224 

24 
(Vol. 7) 

Exhibit 1 – Excerpts from Motion for 
Determination of Privilege 
Designation of RESP013284-
RESP013288 and RESP78899-
RESP78900.   
 

 APP001225- 
APP001229 

24 
(Vol. 7) 

Exhibit 2 - Excerpts from Reply to 
Opposition to Motion for 
Determination of Privilege 
Designation of RESP013284-
RESP013288 and RESP78899-
RESP78900; and Opposition to 
Countermotion for Remediation of 
Improperly Disclosed Attorney-

 APP001230- 
APP001241 



xiv 
 
4829-3646-2037, v. 1 

TAB DOCUMENT DATE PAGES 
Client Privileged and Work Product 
Protected Materials 

24 
(Vol. 7) 

Exhibit 3 – Discovery 
Commissioner’s Report and 
Recommendations on (1) the Motion 
for Determination of Privilege 
Designation, (2) the Supplemental 
Briefing on Appreciation Damages 

 APP001242- 
APP001255 

24 
(Vol. 7) 

Exhibit 4 – Excerpts from 
Petitioner’s Objection to the 
Discovery Commissioner’s Report 
and Recommendations on (1) the 
Motion for Determination of 
Privilege Designation, (2) the 
Supplemental Briefing on 
Appreciation Damages 

 APP001256- 
APP001272 

24 
(Vol. 7) 

Exhibit 5 – Excerpts from 
Respondents’ Opposition to 
Petitioner’s Objection to the 
Discovery Commissioner’s Report 
and Recommendations on (1) the 
Motion for Determination of 
Privilege Designation, (2) the 
Supplemental Briefing on 
Appreciation Damages 

 APP001273- 
APP001282 

24 
(Vol. 7) 

Exhibit 6 – Excerpts from Reply in 
Support of Petitioner’s Objection to 
the Discovery Commissioner’s 
Report and Recommendations on (1) 
the Motion for Determination of 
Privilege Designation, (2) the 
Supplemental Briefing on 
Appreciation Damages 

 APP001283- 
APP001297  

 

24 
(Vol. 7) 

Exhibit 7 – Excerpts from April 11, 
2019 Hearing Transcript of Pending 
Motions Before the Honorable 
Gloria Sturman, District Court Judge 

 APP001298- 
APP001306 



xv 
 
4829-3646-2037, v. 1 

TAB DOCUMENT DATE PAGES 
24 

(Vol. 7) 
Exhibit 8 – Notice of Entry of Order 
on the Parties’ Objections to the 
Discovery Commissioner’s Report 
and Recommendation on the Motion 
for Privilege Designation  

 APP001307- 
APP001313 

24 
(Vol. 7) 

Exhibit 9 – Excerpts from Answer to 
Petition for Writ of Prohibition or 
Mandamus  

 APP001314- 
APP001319 

24 
(Vol. 7) 

Exhibit 10 – Email Communications 
Dated June 28, 2018 re Privilege 
Logs 

 APP001320- 
APP001324 

24 
(Vol. 7) 

Exhibit 11 – Email Communications 
Dated June 28, 2018 re Potentially 
Privileged Communications 

 APP001325- 
APP001327 

25 
(Vol. 7) 

Reply to Opposition to Countermotion 
for Wavier of the Attorney Client 
Privilege  

07/21/2020 APP001328- 
APP001351 

25 
(Vol. 7) 

Exhibit 1 – Order on the Parties’ 
Objections to the Discovery 
Commissioner’s Report and 
Recommendation on the Motion for 
Privilege Designation 

 APP001352- 
APP001356 

26 
(Vol. 7) 

Decision and Order Granting Motion to 
Disqualify  

08/13/2020 APP001357- 
APP001365 

27 
(Vol. 7) 

Recorder’s Transcript of Video 
Conference Via Bluejeans Hearing – 
Respondents Motion to Disqualify the 
Honorable Gloria Sturman 

08/20/2020 APP001366- 
APP001389 

 

 

 

 

 



 

Page 1 of 3 
 

 

 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 
 

CAMPBELL & WILLIAMS 
DONALD J. CAMPBELL, ESQ. (1216) 
djc@cwlawlv.com 
J. COLBY WILLIAMS, ESQ. (5549) 
jcw@cwlawlv.com 
PHILIP R. ERWIN, ESQ. (11563) 
pre@cwlawlv.com   
700 South Seventh Street 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89101 
Telephone: (702) 382-5222 
Facsimile: (702) 382-0540 
 
Attorneys for Lawrence and  
Heidi Canarelli, and Frank Martin,  
Special Administrator of the Estate of  
Edward C. Lubbers, Former Trustees 
 

DISTRICT COURT 

CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA 
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 Lawrence and Heidi Canarelli (“Respondents”), by and through their undersigned Counsel, 

the law firm of Campbell & Williams, hereby submit this Appendix of Exhibits to Respondents’ 

Reply in Support of Motion to Disqualify the Honorable Gloria Sturman and Opposition to 

Countermotion for Waiver of the Attorney Client Privilege filed concurrently herewith. 

Case Number: P-13-078912-T
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7/13/2020 4:54 PM
Steven D. Grierson
CLERK OF THE COURT
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Exhibit 
No. 
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 Declaration of J. Colby Williams  
1. Petitioner Scott Canarelli’s Motion for Determination of Privilege 

Designation (7/13/18 and re-filed with redactions on 10/18/18) 
1-5 

2. Petitioner Scott Canarelli’s Reply in Support of Motion for 
Determination of Privilege Designation (dated 8/24/18 and re-filed with 
redaction on 10/18/18) 

6-17 

3. Discovery Commissioner’s Report and Recommendations (“DCRR”) 
dated 12/6/18 

18-31 

4. Petitioner’s Objections to the DCRR dated 12/17/18 32-48 
5. Respondents’ Opposition to Petitioner’s Objections to the DCRR dated 

1/14/19 
49-58 

6. Petitioner’s Reply in Support of Objections to the DCRR dated 3/21/19 59-73 
7. Hearing Transcript dated 4/11/19 74-82 
8. Order on the Parties’ Objections to the DCRR dated 5/31/19 83-89 
9. Petitioner’s Answer to Petition for Writ of Mandamus or Prohibition 

dated 7/15/19 
90-95 

10. Email from C. Williams to D. Dwiggins dated 6/28/18 96-100 
11. Email from D. Dwiggins to C. Williams dated 6/28/18 101-103 

 

DATED this 13th day of July, 2020.      

     CAMPBELL & WILLIAMS 
 
     By /s/ J. Colby Williams    
          DONALD J. CAMPBELL, ESQ. (1216) 
          J. COLBY WILLIAMS, ESQ. (5549) 
          PHILIP R. ERWIN, ESQ. (11563) 

     700 South Seventh Street 
     Las Vegas, Nevada 89101 

 
     Attorneys for Lawrence and  
     Heidi Canarelli, and Frank Martin,  
     Special Administrator of the Estate of  
     Edward C. Lubbers, Former Trustees 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

 I hereby certify that on the 13th day of July, 2020, I caused a true and correct copy of the 

foregoing Appendix of Exhibits to Reply In Support of Respondents’ Motion to Disqualify 

the Honorable Gloria Sturman and Opposition to Countermotion for Waiver of the 

Attorney-Client Privilege to be served through the Eighth Judicial District Court’s electronic 

filing system, to the following parties: 

 Dana Dwiggins, Esq. 
 Craig Friedel, Esq. 
 SOLOMON DWIGGINS & FREER, LTD  
 9060 West Cheyenne Avenue 
 Las Vegas, Nevada  89129 
 
 Counsel for Scott Canarelli 
 
 
       /s/ John Y. Chong    
      An Employee of Campbell & Williams 
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DECLARATION OF J. COLBY WILLIAMS 
  

J. COLBY WILLIAMS declares under penalty of perjury as follows: 

1. I am a resident of Clark County, Nevada, over the age of eighteen (18), and competent 

to make this Declaration. 

2. I am a licensed attorney in the State of Nevada, Bar Number 5549, and a partner in 

the law firm Campbell & Williams.  I am one of the attorneys representing Lawrence Canarelli 

(“Larry”) and Heidi Canarelli (“Heidi”) (collectively the “Canarellis”) and Frank Martin, Special 

Administrator of the Estate of Edward C. Lubbers (“Lubbers”), who have been sued in their 

capacity as former Family Trustees of The Scott Lyle Graves Canarelli Irrevocable Trust, dated 

February 24, 1998 (the “SCIT”).  I submit this declaration in support of Respondents’ Reply in 

Support of Motion to Disqualify the Honorable Gloria Sturman and Opposition to Countermotion 

for Waiver of the Attorney-Client Privilege. 

3. Based upon my review of the files, records, and communications in this case, I have 

personal knowledge of the facts set forth in this Declaration unless otherwise so stated.   If called 

upon to testify, I would testify as set forth herein. 

4. True and correct excerpts of Petitioner Scott Canarelli’s Motion for Determination of 

Privilege Designation (dated 7/13/18 and re-filed with redactions on 10/18/18) are attached hereto 

as Exhibit 1. 

5. True and correct excerpts of Petitioner Scott Canarelli’s Reply in Support of Motion 

for Determination of Privilege Designation (dated 8/24/18 and re-filed with redactions on 

10/18/18) are attached hereto as Exhibit 2 

6. A true and correct copy of the Discovery Commissioner’s Report and 

Recommendations (“DCRR”) dated 12/06/18 is attached hereto as Exhibit 3. 
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7. True and correct excerpts of Petitioner’s Objections to the DCRR dated 12/17/18 are 

attached hereto as Exhibit 4. 

8. True and correct excerpts of Respondents’ Opposition to Petitioner’s Objections to 

the DCRR dated 1/14/19 are attached hereto as Exhibit 5. 

9. True and correct excerpts of Petitioner’s Reply in Support of Objections to the DCRR 

dated 3/21/19 are attached hereto as Exhibit 6. 

10. True and correct excerpts of the Hearing Transcript dated April 11, 2019 are attached 

hereto as Exhibit 7. 

11. A true and correct copy of the Order on the Parties’ Objections to the DCRR dated 

5/31/19 is attached hereto as Exhibit 8. 

12. True and correct excerpts of Petitioner’s Answer to Petition for Writ of Mandamus 

or Prohibition dated 7/15/19 are attached hereto as Exhibit 9. 

13. A true and correct copy of an Email from C. Williams to D. Dwiggins dated 6/28/18 

is attached hereto as Exhibit 10. 

14. A true and correct copy of an Email from D. Dwiggins to C. Williams dated 6/28/18 

is attached hereto as Exhibit 11. 

15.  Petitioner’s claim that the Former Trustees “admitted that no pre-production review 

was implemented” and, thus, somehow violated RPC 1.6(c) and, indirectly, the ESI Protocol is 

nonsense.  When Scott improperly raised this argument the first time before Judge Sturman, the 

Former Trustees opposed it and explained the steps their counsel had taken in connection with 

the subject document productions.  See Ex. 5 (submitted herewith).  The Former Trustees have, 

moreover, addressed their document production procedures multiple times throughout the 

underlying litigation.  See, e.g., Status Reports dated 7/13/18; 7/16/18; and 9/25/18 (all on file). 

Suffice it to say, a purported “admission” about the lack of a pre-production review is nowhere 

to be found.  In any event, the implementation of the ESI Protocol was specifically designed to 
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effectuate the provisions of RPC 1.6, not undermine them, by ensuring that if inadvertent 

productions of potentially protected information did occur despite reasonable efforts, there would 

be no waiver unless the protections never applied in the first place. 

16. I declare under penalty of perjury that the foregoing is true and correct. 

 DATED this 13th day of July, 2020. 

      /s/ J. Colby Williams    
      J. COLBY WILLIAMS   
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 DAO 

EIGHTH JUDICIAL DISTRICT COURT 

CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA 
 

 
In the Matter of the   

 
THE SCOTT LYLE GRAVES CANARELLI 
IRREVOCABLE TRUST, dated February 24, 
1998. 

 

Case No. 

Dept. No. 

P-13-078912-T 

26/Probate 

 

DECISION AND ORDER GRANTING MOTION TO DISQUALIFY 

 The Former Trustees of the Scott Lyle Graves Canarelli Irrevocable Trust filed a motion to 

disqualify Judge Sturman.  The Former Trustees argue that Judge Sturman’s impartiality might be 

reasonably questioned based on Judge Sturman’s review of privileged documents.  This matter came 

before the Court for oral argument on July 28, 2020.  After review of the papers, Judge Sturman’s 

response, and consideration of oral argument, the Court grants the Former Trustees’ request to 

disqualify Judge Sturman.  Pursuant to Administrative Order 19-07, the Clerk of the Court is 

directed to randomly reassign case P-13-078912-T and its consolidated cases to Department 8 or 

Department 24.  

I. Factual and Procedural Background 

Heidi Canarelli, Lawrence Canarelli, and Edward Lubbers were Former Trustees of the Scott 

Lyle Graves Canarelli Irrevocable Trust.  On September 30, 2013, Scott Canarelli filed a probate 

petition that raised adversarial allegations against the Former Trustees.  The case was assigned to 

Judge Sturman and several other probate petitions filed by Mr. Canarelli were subsequently 

consolidated under this case.  Mr. Canarelli’s initial petition was later supplemented with surcharge 

petitions against the Former Trustees.  Mr. Lubbers retained counsel and Mr. Lubbers conducted a 

conference call with counsel on October 14, 2013.  Mr. Lubbers took notes related to the conference 

call and the notes included opinions on the merits of Mr. Canarelli’s petitions. 

Electronically Filed
08/13/2020 7:19 AM

Case Number: P-13-078912-T

ELECTRONICALLY SERVED
8/13/2020 7:19 AM
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The case proceeded to discovery and the Former Trustees’ initial disclosures were served in 

December of 2017.  The Former Trustees’ initial disclosures included Mr. Lubbers’s notes from the 

October 14, 2013, conference call.  The Former Trustees attempted to claw back Mr. Lubbers’s 

notes, arguing the notes were inadvertently disclosed and protected by attorney-client privilege.  The 

discovery commissioner determined that while portions of Mr. Lubbers’s notes were privileged, 

other portions of the notes were discoverable under the common law fiduciary duty exception to 

attorney-client privilege.  Both parties objected to the discovery commissioner’s findings and the 

matter came before Judge Sturman for hearing.  Judge Sturman reviewed Mr. Lubber’s notes 

affirmed the majority of the discovery commissioner’s findings.  Following Judge Sturman’s ruling, 

the Former Trustees petitioned the Nevada Supreme Court for a writ of prohibition or mandamus. 

One May 28, 2020, the Nevada Supreme Court granted the Former Trustees’ petition.  The 

high court found that Mr. Lubbers’s notes were undiscoverable because they were protected by 

attorney-client privilege and that no exception applied.  On June 8, 2020, the Former Trustees filed a 

motion to disqualify Judge Sturman.  The Former Trustees argue that Judge Sturman’s review of Mr. 

Lubbers’s notes would cause a reasonable person to harbor doubts about Judge Sturman’s 

impartiality.  Judge Sturman filed an answer in response, categorically denying any bias or prejudice 

towards any party to the case.  Mr. Canarelli filed an opposition and countermotion for waiver of 

attorney-client privilege, and the Former Trustees filed a reply in response.   

Mr. Lubbers’s notes were provided to the Court for in camera review on July 17, 2020, and 

the matter came before the Court for oral argument on July 28, 2020. 

II. Discussion 

A. Legal Standard 

Nevada Revised Statute 1.230 provides the statutory grounds for disqualifying district Court 

judges. The statue in pertinent part provides: 
 

1. A judge shall not act in an action or proceeding when the judge entertains actual 
bias or prejudice for or against one of the parties to the action. 

2. A judge shall not act as such in an action or proceeding when implied bias exists 
in any of the following respects: 

(a) When the judge is a party to or interested in the action or proceeding. 
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(b) When the judge is related to either party by consanguinity or affinity within the 
third degree.  

(c) When the judge has been attorney or counsel for either of the parties in the 
particular action or proceeding before the court.  

(d) When the judge is related to an attorney or counselor for either of the parties by 
consanguinity or affinity within the third degree. This paragraph does not apply 
to the presentation of ex parte or contested matters, except in fixing fees for an 
attorney so related to the judge.  

The Revised Nevada Code of Judicial Conduct provides substantive grounds for judicial 

disqualification. Pursuant to NCJC 2.11(A): 
 
(A) A judge shall disqualify himself or herself in any proceeding in which the 
judge’s impartiality might reasonably be questioned, including but not limited to the 
following circumstances: 
(1) The judge has a personal bias or prejudice concerning a party or a party’s 
lawyer, or personal knowledge of facts that are in dispute in the proceeding. 

A judge shall disqualify himself or herself in any proceeding in which the judge’s impartiality might 

be reasonably questioned. Ybarra v. State, 247 P.3d 269, 271 (Nev. 2011).  The test for whether a 

judge’s impartiality might be reasonably questioned is objective and courts must decide whether a 

reasonable person, knowing all the facts, would harbor reasonable doubts about a judge’s 

impartiality. Id. at 272.  

 The burden is on the party asserting the challenge to establish sufficient factual and legal 

grounds warranting disqualification. Las Vegas Downtown Redevelopment Agency v. District 

Court, 5 P.3d 1059, 1061 (Nev. 2000).  A judge has a duty to preside to the conclusion of all 

proceedings, in the absence of some statute, rule of court, ethical standard, or compelling reason 

otherwise.  Id.  A judge is presumed to be unbiased.  Millen v. District Court, 148 P.3d 694, 701 

(Nev. 2006).  A judge is presumed to be impartial, and the burden is on the party asserting the 

challenge to establish sufficient factual grounds warranting disqualification. Yabarra, 247 P.3d at 

272.  Additionally, the Court should give substantial weight to a judge’s determination that the judge 

may not voluntarily disqualify themselves, and the judge’s decision should not be overturned in the 

absence of clear abuse of discretion.  In re Pet. To recall Dunleavy, 769 P.2d 1271, 1274 (Nev. 

1988). 
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 The Nevada Supreme Court has stated “rulings and actions of a judge during the course of 

official judicial proceedings do not establish legally cognizable grounds for disqualifications.”  Id. at 

1275.  The personal bias necessary to disqualify must ‘stem from an extrajudicial source and result 

in an opinion on the merits on some basis other than what the judge learned from participation in the 

case.”  Id.  “To permit an allegation of bias, partially founded upon a justice’s performance of his [or 

her] constitutionally mandated responsibilities, to disqualify that justice from discharging those 

duties would nullify the court’s authority and permit manipulation of justice, as well as the court.” 

Id. 

The Nevada Supreme Court has noted that while the general rule is that what a judge learns 

in his or her official capacity does not result in disqualification, “an opinion formed by a judge on 

the basis of facts introduced or events occurring in the course of the current proceedings, or of prior 

proceedings, constitutes a basis for a bias or partiality motion where the opinion displays ‘a deep-

seated favoritism or antagonism that would make fair judgment impossible.” Kirksey v. State, 923 

P.2d 1102, 1107 (Nev. 1996).  However, “remarks of a judge made in the context of a court 

proceeding are not considered indicative of improper bias or prejudice unless they show that the 

judge has closed his or her mind to the presentation of all the evidence.” Cameron v. State, 968 P.2d 

1169, 1171 (Nev. 1998). 
 

B. Disqualification is warranted because Judge Sturman’s impartiality may be reasonably 
questioned based on Judge Sturman’s review of Mr. Lubbers’s notes.  

 The Former Trustees argue that Judge Sturman should be disqualified from this case because 

Judge Sturman reviewed Mr. Lubbers’s notes.  Those notes have now been determined to be 

privileged documents which should not have been discoverable.  The Former Trustees argue that 

Judge Sturman’s review of the Mr. Lubbers’s notes would cause a reasonable person to harbor 

doubts about Judge Sturman’s impartiality as the ultimate trier of fact in the case. 

In her response, Judge Sturman denies any bias or prejudice and explains the legal basis for 

her review of Mr. Lubbers’s notes for a privilege determination.  Judge Sturman also notes that the 

Nevada Supreme Court’s opinion did not direct reassignment of this case.  Mr. Canarelli objects to 

disqualification, arguing that the information contained within Mr. Lubbers’s notes would be 
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presented as evidence by other means.  Mr. Canarelli further argues that the Former Trustees have 

failed to demonstrate a deep seated antagonism that would warrant disqualification of Judge 

Sturman.   

NRS 1.235(1) provides specific deadlines that an affidavit to disqualify a judge must be filed.  

If new grounds for a judge’s disqualification arise after the time limits in NRS 1.235(1), a party may 

file a motion to disqualify based on the judicial canons.   Towbin Dodge, LLC v. Eighth Judicial 

Dist. Court of State ex rel. Cty. of Clark, 112 P.3d 1063, 1069 (Nev. 2005).  Under the Nevada Code 

of Judicial Canons, “[a] judge shall disqualify himself or herself in any proceeding in which the 

judge's impartiality might reasonably be questioned.”  Nev. Sup. Ct. R. CJC Canon 2, Rule 2.11(A).  

The motion “must set forth facts and reasons sufficient to cause a reasonable person to question the 

judge's impartiality.”  Id. at 1069.  Disqualification is appropriate if a reasonable person, knowing all 

the facts, would harbor reasonable doubts about a judge’s impartiality.  Ybarra v. State, 247 P.3d 

269, 272 (Nev. 2011).     

The general rule of law is that what a judge learns in their official capacity does not result in 

disqualification, unless the movant can show that the judge has formed an opinion based on the facts 

and the opinion displays “a deep-seated favoritism or antagonism that would make fair judgment 

impossible.” Kirksey v. State, 923 P.2d 1102, 1119 (Nev. 1996).  But, the US Supreme Court has 

found that “‘examination of the evidence, even by the judge alone, in chambers’ might in some cases 

‘jeopardize the security which the privilege is meant to protect.’”  United States v. Zolin, 491 U.S. 

554, 570, (1989).  While Zolin involved privileged documents in a tax investigation, the Arizona 

Supreme Court raised similar concerns in a guardianship case.  Lund v. Myers, 305 P.3d 374, 375 

(Ariz. 2013).  In Lund, the Arizona Supreme Court remanded a guardianship case to the trial judge 

for further arguments on the privilege of inadvertently disclosed documents.  Id. at 377.  The 

Arizona Supreme Court cautioned, however, “of the possibility that a review of privileged materials 

may be so prejudicial as to require the judge's recusal.”  Id.  If the trial judge conducts an in camera 

review and determines that the documents are privileged, it may be necessary for the trial judge to 

recuse under the Arizona judicial canons.  Id.  Like Nevada, Arizona’s judicial canons require 
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disqualification “in any proceeding in which the judge's impartiality might reasonably be 

questioned”.  AZ ST S CT RULE 81 CJC Rule 2.11.  

Here, the Court finds that Judge Sturman’s review of Mr. Lubbers’s notes may cause Judge 

Sturman’s impartiality to be reasonably questioned.  Judge Sturman reviewed Mr. Lubbers’s notes in 

an official judicial capacity, and there is no evidence that Judge Sturman has formed an opinion that 

would make fair judgment impossible.  The general rule provides that disqualification in such 

circumstances would not be warranted.  But, under NRS 153.031, the court is the ultimate trier of 

fact in petitions concerning trust affairs.  See NRS 153.031(3).  The Court has reviewed Mr. 

Lubbers’s notes in camera.  Mr. Lubbers’s notes contained opinions that spoke directly on the merits 

of Mr. Canarelli’s petitions and the notes also contained Mr. Lubbers’s personal assessment of the 

risk faced by the Former Trustees.  The Nevada Supreme Court has now determined that Mr. 

Lubbers’s notes were privileged documents that should not have been discoverable.  A reasonable 

person, aware of all the facts in the case, may reasonably question Judge Sturman’s impartiality as 

the ultimate trier of fact because of the prejudicial effect of Mr. Lubbers’s notes.  Therefore, the 

Former Trustees’ request to disqualify Judge Sturman is granted. 
 

C. Mr. Canarelli’s countermotion is denied because it is outside the scope of 
disqualification proceedings. 

Mr. Canarelli’s countermotion moves for a finding that the Former Trustees waived attorney-

client privilege on Mr. Lubbers’s notes.  This case is before the Court only for consideration of the 

disqualification of Judge Sturman.  A privilege determination is outside the scope of disqualification 

proceedings.  Mr. Canarelli’s countermotion is therefore denied. 

/ / / 
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III. Conclusion 

Judge Sturman reviewed notes which were later determined to be privileged.  A reasonable 

person, aware of the contents of the notes, may harbor reasonable doubts about Judge Sturman’s 

impartiality in this case.  Thus, the Former Trustees’ request to disqualify Judge Sturman is granted.  

Pursuant to Administrative Order 19-07, the Clerk of the Court is directed to randomly reassign case 

P-13-078912-T and its consolidated cases to Department 8 or Department 24. 

Mr. Canarelli’s Countermotion for Waiver of Attorney-Client Privilege is denied because it 

is outside the scope of disqualification proceedings. 

 

 

 
__________________________________ 
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Las Vegas, Nevada, Tuesday, July 28, 2020 

 

[Case called at 11:13 a.m.] 

MR. WILLIAMS:  Good morning, Your Honor, Colby Williams on 

behalf of the former trustees, who are also referred to sometimes as the 

Respondents.   

THE COURT:  All right.   

MS. DWIGGINS:  Good morning, Your Honor.  Dana Dwiggins 

on behalf of Scott Canarelli and Craig Friedel, also on behalf of Scott 

Canarelli.  And Scott is present on the phone as well.   

THE COURT:  And this is a motion, the Motion to Disqualify 

Judge Sturman.  

MR. WILLIAMS:  That's right, Your Honor.  Colby Williams, 

again, on behalf of the former trustees.  I'll go ahead and proceed as it's 

our motion.  

Your Honor, the way I was going to handle this was to address 

in my opening presentation the disqualification issue, because I believe 

that's what's at center here.   

Ms. Dwiggins has, of course, filed a countermotion claiming that 

there's been a waiver through reckless disclosure.  I'm happy to address 

that if the Court wants to hear anything from me on that in my opening 

presentation, but I'm inclined to just let Ms. Dwiggins present that 

argument and I'm happy to address her argument.  So with that --  

THE COURT:  Okay.   

MR. WILLIAMS:  -- unless the Court wants to me handle it 
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differently, I'll just --  

THE COURT:  I mean, the -- I can only decide whether there's a 

disqualification or not.  So to the extent there's any sort of evidentiary 

ruling in a countermotion. 

And that's not properly before me, I just -- I mean, I can't -- I 

don't make substantive decisions in cases.  I just decide is there an issue 

with this particular judge hearing the case or not? 

MR. WILLIAMS:  Fair enough, Your Honor.  Well, I think that'll 

help shorten what we're here today to talk about.  So let me just jump into 

it then.   

Your Honor, we're here under the Towbin Dodge procedure that 

was articulated by the Supreme Court in 2005 or so.  And what that 

procedure is is that when the time has expired to seek a judge's recusal or 

disqualification under NRS 1.230 and 1.235, which is the case here, 

because Judge Sturman has heard matters in this case as it's been going 

on for a while.   

Towbin Dodge articulated a principle that allows parties to seek 

recusal or disqualification of judges under the Nevada Code of Judicial 

Conduct.  And that's what we're here today to do.   

Specifically, we have filed a motion under the Nevada Code of 

Judicial Conduct Rule 2.11.  And what Towbin Dodge tells us with respect 

to the standard to be applied under that provision is to look at the PETA 

versus Bobby Berosini case, Your Honor, which both parties have cited.   

And the standard that applies in this context, Your Honor, is an 

objective one.  And the objective standard is would a reasonable person, 
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knowing all of the facts, question or harbor reasonable doubts about the 

judge's impartiality?  It's very straightforward in many ways.   

And so, what that necessarily means, Your Honor, is that it 

doesn't matter whether the judge is actually impartial.  The question is 

whether the judge appears to be impartial to a reasonable observer.   

And Your Honor, with all due respect, what that also means is 

that it doesn't matter what Judge Sturman's subjective views are with 

respect to her impartiality, just as it doesn't matter what my clients think 

about her impartiality.  The question is what would a reasonable, fully 

informed person think?   

And, Your Honor, that is because the public policy that's at play 

here is one that is designed to promote public confidence in the integrity 

of the judicial system.   

Now, Your Honor, there is admittedly another public policy 

concern here, arguably a competing public policy concern, which is that 

litigants shouldn't be able to just veto a judge because he or she doesn't 

like the judge for a particular reason.   

And so, you will see in the cases that the courts are equally 

concerned that these types of motions are not used for strategic purposes 

or tactical purposes.   

And, Your Honor, I want to address that right up front, because I 

think that's critically important here.  This is the opposite of a strategic 

motion.  It is not being done for delay.  Your Honor, we tried to avoid 

being here most respectfully.   

Two years ago, we're coming up on it in August of 2018, we 
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wrote a letter to Judge Sturman.  And we said in that letter, Your Honor, 

an issue, a dispute has developed regarding a set of privileged notes.   

Those notes are arguably going to be before you in the context 

of a motion to dismiss.  We would strongly encourage you to think about 

how to handle those notes.   

Specifically, we would propose that you let a different district 

court judge make the call on this issue.  At the time, Judge -- we were still 

litigating the issue in front of Commissioner Bulla.  Judge Sturman did not 

move forward with the motion at that time and let the proceedings in front 

of Commissioner Bulla play out.   

The issue then did come up through both parties objecting to 

the ruling in front of Judge Sturman.  And we, again, warned the Court 

that they -- she may want to handle this in a different way.   

And Judge Sturman, as is her prerogative, decided to deal with 

the matter on her own.  I don't fault her for that, Your Honor.  I'm not here 

to tell you that there is an absolute rule she had to do what I was 

suggesting.   

What I'm here to say is that having chosen the course that she 

did, there are now potential consequences because if our position proved 

to be correct at the Supreme Court, and it was, then arguably, she has 

now reviewed privilege notes that are very sensitive.   

So, Your Honor, I wanted to make clear, this was not for 

strategy.  This was not for tactics like some of the cases addressed.   

So moving on to the standard and its application here, which I 

will get to in just a minute, I want to quickly address a couple of Scott's 
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arguments.   

And that is under Rule 2.11 of the Code, we are not limited.  

Disqualification is not limited to the six items specified under the rule.  The 

plain language of the rule makes clear, including but not limited to.  And 

the commentary to the rule makes that clear as well.   

So the other argument that Scott has made is that the basis for 

disqualification has to be extrajudicial.  It can't be intrajudicial, something 

that happened within the course of a case.   

But, Your Honor, I think the case law is clear that while the 

general rule is that disqualifications are based on matters that are 

extrajudicial, it certainly is possible that things are going to happen in a 

case that warrant a judge's recusal.  And the Nevada Supreme Court has 

recognized that, as has the U.S. Supreme Court.   

So getting past those issues, Your Honor, let's talk about 

applying the standard here.  What would the reasonable observer know in 

this situation when evaluating whether Judge Sturman should remain on 

the case?   

The reasonable person would know the following, Your Honor.  

First, the reasonable person would know that Scott and his counsel have 

placed significant importance on these notes.   

Repeatedly in the briefing below, and we've included examples 

as exhibits to our reply, Scott and his counsel have said that he will not be 

able to prove his fraud, conspiracy, and breach of fiduciary duty claims 

without these notes.   

And even in the opposition to this motion has said that the notes 
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"are a key piece of evidence".  So the reasonable observer would know 

these aren't just your ordinary notes.  Scott views them as very important.   

Next, the reasonable observer would know what I just went 

through, Your Honor, that we tried to avoid being here.  We tried to 

propose a solution to Judge Sturman that would allow this to have been 

dealt with in a way that could keep her on the case.   

Judge Sturman chose to go a different direction.  The 

reasonable observer would know that as well, Your Honor.   

Next, the reasonable observer would know the content of the 

notes.  I'm not going to get into the specific content, because they are 

privileged, but we have provided them to Her Honor in camera.  So the 

Court has had an opportunity to see them for herself.   

But suffice it to say, the reasonable observer would know that 

these are notes that a party in this case confided in his counsel about risk 

involved in the case, strategy to employ in this case is belief on the merits.   

And most importantly, for what we're here for, Your Honor, how 

Judge Sturman would potentially view the merits of the case.  So the 

reasonable observer would know that.   

The reasonable observer would know that Judge Sturman did 

decide to go ahead and review the notes herself when ruling on the 

parties' objections.   

And the reasonable observer would know that she analyzed the 

issue at length in our hearing in front of her.  We have included the 

relevant portions of the transcript.  They comprise 17 pages.   

Next, Your Honor, the reasonable observer would know that 
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when the Nevada Supreme Court did finally weigh in on this issue, that 

the en banc Supreme Court unanimously determined that all of these 

notes were privileged in their entirety and that Judge Sturman had abused 

her discretion by ordering a portion of them to be produced.   

So, Your Honor, we would submit that the foregoing facts, 

which are undisputed because Judge Sturman has provided an answer 

here, but Judge Sturman hasn't disputed any of the facts that I've just 

going to through.  While she says that she believes she can continue to 

be impartial, that's her subjective belief and that's not what we looked at, 

but she hasn't disputed any of these facts.   

So the reasonable person, we submit, Your Honor, would 

question or harbor reasonable doubts about Judge Sturman's impartiality 

moving forward in this case.  That's not my view.  I submit that would be 

the reasonable person's view, Your Honor.   

And while I don't think it's a close call, I would close with the 

following, that any reasonable doubts about this issue get resolved in 

favor of recusal, Your Honor, her disqualification.  And I would submit it on 

that unless Your Honor has questions of me.   

THE COURT:  All right, no, I don't.  Thank you.   

MS. DWIGGINS:  Thank you, Your Honor.  I just want to start 

off by saying that we're here because of a document that Respondents 

inadvertently produced in the litigation.   

And I want to -- I'm going to get into the standard and we refute 

what Mr. Williams sets forth as the standard.  But initially in the motion, 

they relied predominantly on Towbin setting forth the standard.   
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In our opposition, we came back and cited Towbin and Lindsey, 

that was quoted by our Nevada Supreme Court, which is a U.S. Supreme 

Court case, that said that the bias or impartiality must stem from an 

extrajudicial source.  And it must be personal, not judicially related.   

In their reply, they said you got the standard wrong.  That's a 

misstatement of law.  And they said forth Kirksey, which is also a Nevada 

Supreme Court decision.   

And the problem is is --  

THE COURT:  But I do -- hold on just a second.  I mean, I do 

think that that is the general standard, right, that it is something external to 

defense -- or external to the case.   

So, for example, what sometimes happens is that you have a 

very difficult lawyer.  And over the course of litigation, the judge has 

become very frustrated with the lawyer.   

That would not necessarily be the basis for recusal, but I don't 

think that that's a -- I'm not sure that that really applies when the question 

is does the judge have information?  Was the judge provided confidential 

information that could potentially impact how a decision is made?   

MS. DWIGGINS:  I understand.  I'm going to get into that, Your 

Honor.  And the problem is Mr. Williams conflates the two standards set 

forth in Towbin and Kirksey. 

And I'm going to just quote from Kirksey real quick, because it 

addresses what Your Honor just raised.  And this had to do with the 

judge's knowledge of certain facts, which is very similar to the instant 

case.   
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The general rule of law is that what a judge learns in his official 

capacity does not result in disqualification.  In other words, the party 

asserting the challenge must show the judge learned prejudicial 

information from an exjudicial source.   

However, an opinion formed by a judge on the basis of facts 

introduced or events occurring in the course of the current proceedings or 

prior proceedings constitutes a basis for bias or impartiality motion, 

excuse me, partiality motion where the opinion displays a deep-seated 

favoritism or antagonism that would make fair judgment impossible.   

That's the standard when we're dealing with this situation, 

where the judge learns of facts during the course of the proceeding.  It's a 

deep-seated favoritism or antagonism that would make judgment 

impossible or fair judgment impossible.   

And the Nevada Supreme Court cited to Litske [phonetic], which 

is a U.S. Supreme Court, and that's where the standard was adopted 

from.   

And what's very significant is the U.S. Supreme Court stated 

that it is the rarest of circumstances where evidence can be presented to 

allow a degree of favoritism or antagonism required when there is no 

extrajudicial source involved.   

So that's the standard that applies here, a deep-seated 

favoritism or antagonism and an opinion formed by Judge Sturman in 

relation to the same.  It's not the reasonable person and the objective 

standard that is set forth in Towbin.  

And if you notice in listening to Mr. Williams' oral arguments, he 
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never even referenced that standard at all.  Rather, he just applied that 

that was in the PETA decision and the Towbin, and completely ignored 

the Kirksey standard.   

Throughout their reply, and I quote page 11, they reference that 

the burden is on them for fact -- to set forth facts and reasons sufficient to 

cause a reasonable person to question Judge Sturman. 

The applicable standard is an objective one and asks whether 

grounds exist to object -- to an objective observer reasonably to question 

the judge's impartiality.   

They state that her impartiality is in question, that the 

fact-finding process is tainted.  And they conclude that a well-informed, 

thoughtful observer would reasonably question the judge's impartiality.   

Nowhere do they contend or even take on the standard set forth 

in Kirksey.  They have not even stated that she has formulated an opinion 

which is required, an opinion that is deep-seated in favoritism or 

antagonism.  And, in fact, they presented no evidence in this regard at all.   

And I want to talk about the public policy, because Mr. Williams 

did.  And again, this -- we're in this situation because of Respondents 

producing an inadvertent disclosure that both the Discovery 

Commissioner and Judge Sturman held at least a portion of it was not 

privileged.   

Obviously, the Nevada Supreme Court ultimately ruled it was 

privileged, but they cite, the Respondents cite in the reply brief Arkansas 

Teacher Retirement System, which goes through these public policies and 

details.   
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And I think they're very important because it recognizes again 

what this high standard is for information that a judge learns in connection 

with the case and during the judicial proceeding.   

And it states that the appearance of bias must be so extreme as 

to display a clear inability to render fair judgment.  And this high threshold 

recognizes certain realities, those that they're driven by litigation 

strategies, the motion to disqualify, rather than ethical concerns that 

courts cannot afford to spawn a public perception that lawyers and 

litigants will benefit by undertaken such imaginations.   

It results in forum shopping and the disqualification process 

must prevent parties from easily obtaining disqualification and 

manipulating the judicial system for strategic reasons, including obtaining 

a judge that's more to their liking.   

And based upon these realities, the court goes on and says the 

judge should not be disqualified simply because a claim of partiality has 

been given widespread publicity based upon a ruling in the case.   

And I dispute in the level of weight that we put on this 

document.  We've contended that those statements in there constitute a 

party admission and it is evidence of fraud.   

That's not our only evidence.  And I think that's very significant 

in this case, Your Honor, because the facts are going to come in just 

through other means.   

And I'd be more than willing to make a proffer of evidence to 

you, Your Honor, because it's no question or it's undisputable that 

distributions to my client's stock from the trust in or about May of 
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June -- excuse me, May of 2012.  

Scott initially retained my law firm in June of 2012 because of 

the distributions that had stopped by the former trustees.  My firm 

thereafter negotiated with Mr. Lubbers and the trustee to receive 

distributions.  Distributions were ultimately agreed to and a certain amount 

near the end of December of 2012.   

At about that same exact time, the former trustees incorporated 

an entity, SJA Acquisitions, which was ultimately one of the buyers.   

It's also not disputed that the sale was never disclosed to either 

Scott or my law firm, despite the fact that we were representing him and 

that we learned of the sale subsequent thereto.   

So those are the same facts that are going to come in through 

admissible evidence.  And that is one of the key questions of whether or 

not the judge learned something that is otherwise not going to come into 

evidence at all.   

And I think what's significant, Your Honor, our rules contemplate 

judges reviewing privileged materials in camera.  I cite to Rule 26.  And it's 

one of the subsections 5(b) that deals with claiming privilege or protecting 

trial preparation materials.   

And subsection (b) contemplates that there's going to be 

disputes over the claims of privileged information.  And it quotes -- and it 

states, excuse me, that either party may, and I quote, "promptly present 

the information to the court under seal for a determination of the claim".   

That's an in camera review.  And if you read that in connection 

with EDCR 7.10, that provides under Section A, no judge except the judge 
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having charge of the cause or proceeding may enter an order therein.   

And sub (b) that says when any district court has begun a trial 

or hearing of any cause, proceeding, or motion, or made a ruling, order 

decision therein, no other judge may do any act or thing in or about such 

case, proceeding, or motion unless at the request of the judge.   

And, in fact, you just recognized that at the beginning of this 

hearing, Your Honor, by stating that you're not going to entertain the 

countermotion because it's not properly before you, because as the chief 

judge, you are only to hear the disqualification motion.   

And by requiring other courts to review in camera materials 

would place such a burden on the court system.  The courts do it all the 

time.  Business courts hear their own discovery.  Probate court now 

handles its own discovery since the Discovery Commissioner has joined 

the Appellate Court.   

The Nevada Supreme Court had an opportunity to remand this 

case and reassign it to a different judge and declined to do so.  And I think 

Judge Sturman in her answer raised some good points that are worth 

noting is that the cases that are Nevada Supreme Court decisions support 

a judge reviewing materials in camera.   

And she quoted to both the Wynn Resorts case and the Kotter 

[phonetic] case, where the Nevada Supreme Court instructed the trial 

judge to review the privileged materials in camera to determine whether or 

not the privilege applied before compelling its disclosure.   

And although they cite to the Lund case, where the court held 

that a different judge should have reviewed it, Lund relies upon a U.S. 
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Supreme Court decision as well, the Zolin, in which the Court said it's 

completely discretionary for the Court to determine whether or not it 

reviews it itself in camera or gives to another judge.  And that discretion 

cannot be overturned but for an abuse of discretion.   

The facts also establish that the Court had reason to believe in 

good reasonable belief, which was what the standard that was set forth in 

Lund, as well as Zolin, which states that the Court may have an in camera 

inspection and it may be appropriate if it is necessary to resolve the 

privilege once a party makes a factual showing to support a reasonable 

good faith belief that the document is not privileged.   

And that's exactly what we had in this case.  We had a ruling by 

the Discovery Commissioner finding the document was not privileged.  

The Discovery Commissioner even noted that on its face, the document 

was not privileged.  It was not marked attorney-client privilege.  There was 

no indication that it had been communicated to an attorney.   

And additionally, the Discovery Commissioner had found that 

the fiduciary exception applied.  And, therefore, it was not privileged under 

that basis as well.   

And although the Nevada Supreme Court addressed the 

fiduciary exception in the context of this case for the first time and it was 

an issue of first and precedent and decided that it does not or Nevada will 

not recognize it, it does not change the fact that the evidence before 

Judge Sturman, she had a reasonable belief and the evidence presented 

was that the document was not privileged.   

And, Your Honor, reviewing privileged information is no different 
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than reviewing other inadmissible evidence.  The Court makes -- it's an 

evidentiary issue.  Courts make evidentiary decisions all the time, 

hearsay, subsequent remedial measures, privileged documents.   

It is absolutely no different.  Courts hear motions in limines 

during bench trials.  It is absolutely no different.  And on that basis, we 

submit, Your Honor, that Judge Sturman should not be disqualified, that 

they have --  

THE COURT:  Well --  

MS. DWIGGINS:  I'm sorry, did you have a question?   

THE COURT:  Yeah, I did, because I don't know how you can 

say that.  I mean, if it is privileged information, then typically, the judge 

would never hear it.   

So I don't view that as being -- I mean, normally those kinds of 

rulings are made with a jury trial, too, where the judge is the person 

making the evidentiary calls, but there's a different trier of fact.  I mean, 

not always, but typically, that's the situation.   

MS. DWIGGINS:  Your Honor, bench trials hear evidentiary 

issues all the time in motion in limines.   

THE COURT:  True.   

MS. DWIGGINS:  And whether or not a statement is hearsay or 

not, for example, that statement could be very damaging evidence.  And 

which is no different really than privileged information.   

You could -- it would be hard pressed to say that every Court 

that reviews privileged information in camera has to be disqualified if it's 

determined that the documents are privileged where they act as the trier 
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of fact.   

The bottom line is we have a Nevada Supreme Court case that 

sets forth that standard.  That standard is in Kirksey.  And it's that the 

Respondents bear the burden of demonstrating that Judge Sturman has 

formulated an opinion that is deep-seated favoritism or antagonism.   

And they have not even said that she has formulated any 

opinion at all.  She is a judicial officer that is perfectly capable of 

disregarding inadmissible evidence for the purpose of a trial even when 

she is the trier of fact.   

And we don't think they've met the standard.  They haven't even 

argued the correct standard.  And on that basis, we think the motion 

should be denied.   

THE COURT:  All right, thank you.   

MS. DWIGGINS:  Thank you.   

MR. WILLIAMS:  Your Honor, Colby Williams again on behalf of 

the former trustees.  I think I can be pretty brief and succinct here.  I'm not 

going to move in any particular order, but let me hit some of the points 

that Ms. Dwiggins just argued.   

And the bulk of them obviously follow around this distinction 

between intrajudicial versus an extrajudicial basis for seeking recusal or 

disqualification.   

Let's start with the rule.  2.11 makes no distinction whatsoever 

between extrajudicial basis or intrajudicial basis for seeking recusal.  So 

the plain language of the rule says including, but not limited to, and the 

commentary says whenever a judge's impartiality can be questioned.  So 
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that's the rule.   

Kirksey, Your Honor, Ms. Dwiggins didn't cite Kirksey.  

She -- her firm didn't cite this issue.  We brought it up.  We're not running 

from Kirksey or the Litkey [phonetic] case, which is the U.S. Supreme 

Court case.  We cited them, Judge.   

We understand.  We're the one who brought this issue to the 

Court's attention insofar as the fact that these cases recognize that a 

basis for recusal does not have to always be extrajudicial.   

Admittedly, those cases recognize that the majority of the time, 

we are talking about disqualification, that it is an extrajudicial source, Your 

Honor.  That's what those cases are saying.   

With respect, but they at the same time, they recognize that is 

only a general rule.  If you go look at the Arkansas Retirement Systems 

case, again, a case we cited.  This is not Ms. Dwiggins case, we cited it, 

because the judge makes clear in that setting, the basis for 

disqualification was intrajudicial.   

They were not claiming that the judge was actually biased, but 

that a reasonable person would think that he wasn't impartial based on 

some ex parte communications that took place with a special master.   

He goes through the Litkey standard, which is what the Nevada 

Supreme Court referenced in Kirksey.  And Your Honor, it's still an 

objective standard. 

The standard doesn't change to where the judge or somebody 

else gets to make the decision that, oh, well, you know, there's an opinion.  

If it doesn't reflect deep-seated favoritism or antagonism, it's still decided 
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by the reasonable observer.   

And, Your Honor, we cited to you four cases.  If this notion of 

extrajudicial versus intrajudicial carried the day, well, we still win because 

we have met the heightened the standard that would apply in that 

scenario, because we've provided to you cases that have articulated the 

concern that exists when a judge potentially reviews privileged material 

and the taint that can occur.   

Now admittedly, again, and we put this out in our motion, judges 

do review documents for privilege in camera all the time.  You want to talk 

about the Wynn case?  Your Honor, I could spend five years talking to you 

about the Wynn case because I lived it forever.  There were tons of in 

camera reviews of privileged material in that case.  No question about it.   

Here's the difference.  It was a jury trial.  Judge Gonzalez was 

sitting as a judge in a jury trial.  She was making calls on privilege.   

And I can tell you this.  None of the notes or privileged materials 

submitted for consideration to Judge Gonzalez talked about what her 

views of the case may be on the merits like these notes do.   

And, Your Honor, that's why we wrote the letter to Judge 

Sturman.  We said, hey, these are different.  These are not your garden 

variety arguably privileged notes at the time now definitively privileged 

notes after the Supreme Court's ruling.  We tried to avoid the problem.   

Your Honor, judges absolutely make calls on evidentiary issues 

that come up during bench trials.  We get that and it would not be practical 

in that setting to refer the matter to a different judge to make, you know, 

day in, day out evidentiary calls in the middle of a bench trial.  Of course.   
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But the cases that Ms. Dwiggins and her client rely on aren't 

dealing with just -- or those cases are dealing with just inadmissible 

documents because of an evidentiary objection where the higher court will 

presume that the court disregarded that evidence.   

These are privileged notes containing highly prejudicial 

information that the judge clearly reviewed.  And she is sitting as the trier 

of fact.  That's what distinguishes this case from the normal in camera 

review.   

Finally, just a couple of quick points and I don't need to spend a 

lot of time on them.  Ms. Dwiggins keeps saying that the Discovery 

Commissioner and Judge Sturman found that these notes were not 

privileged.  That is not the case.  It was a mixed bag for both parties.   

Some of the notes were privileged.  Some of them were not.  

That's why we took it up to argue that all of them were privileged and we 

won on that point.   

And, finally, Your Honor, the Supreme Court did not refuse to 

reassign this case.  That was never presented to the Court.  So that is just 

a misnomer, Your Honor.  And I will submit it on that unless you have any 

further questions.   

THE COURT:  All right, no, I don't. 

MS. DWIGGINS:  Your Honor, if I may, and I'm not going to 

refute --  

THE COURT:  Sure.   

MS. DWIGGINS:  -- anything he said.  I just want to bring up, I 

know Your Honor said you're not going to hear the countermotion, but the 
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reason why it was filed was because if there is a waiver based upon 

reckless disclosure, then the documents would not be privileged and it 

would render this underlining motion to disqualify moot.   

I understand that you're not going to hear it, but I just wanted to 

state for purposes of the motion and with a countermotion and why we felt 

it was necessary to file before Your Honor.   

THE COURT:  Well, I mean there's -- I mean, I understand that.  

I mean, at this point, the Supreme Court has said it's privileged.  And so, 

that's -- I have to decide based on that information that I have right now.  

I have a question for you, though, about Kirksey.  So Kirksey 

didn't just say that it was deep-seated favoritism, right?  It also said that it 

would -- the disclosure of information would make fair judgments 

impossible.   

And in fact, the Nevada Supreme Court gave an example, the 

example of when the sentencing judge had ex parte communication with 

members of the victim's family.   

MS. DWIGGINS:  It also [indiscernible] with the fact that again -- 

THE COURT:  So in Kirksey, Judge Lehman had reached out to 

the -- I can't remember, I think Mr. -- Dr. Masters, a psychiatrist, 

psychologist I mean, and asked him some questions about his report, 

which probably wasn't the best idea ever, but you know, that the Supreme 

Court doesn't say this could never be the basis for disqualification.  

MS. DWIGGINS:  I agree with that.  And the Court didn't say 

that.  That was Litkey that the Supreme Court quoted that said it's only in 

the rarest of circumstances that it should happen. 
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And just to clarify, and if I misspoke, I apologize, but the 

standard that they set forth was a deep-seated favoritism or antagonism 

that would make fair judgment impossible. 

So it is -- and I thought I had indicated that earlier in here.  And I 

apologize, but in specific regards to that standard -- 

THE COURT:  So our last -- I'm sorry.   

MS. DWIGGINS:  I'm sorry, in specific regards to that standard, 

the court was talking about the district court's knowledge of information 

that was not part of the record. 

And that was specifically that he had learned the day the matter 

was set for trial that Kirksey had asked someone what the fastest way 

was to get the death penalty. 

And the court said that that did not rise to the level of 

disqualification because it's something that he learned during the penalty 

phase anyway. 

And that's why I bring up the fact that some of these facts that 

are set forth in this -- in the typed notes and the part that's relevant here is 

going to come into evidence anyway. 

It's going to come in through different evidence, but it's going to 

be part of the record.  And that's where we think it's no different than what 

Judge Lehman learned, because it's something he learned during the 

penalty phase anyway.   

It's something that Judge Sturman is going to learn anyway in 

regards to why distributions or when distributions stopped, why they 

restarted, and the timing of the sale, and what was done without my 
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client's knowledge. 

And that's why I made the proffer of evidence, so that you could 

understand that it's really -- the same information is going to come in 

through different means. 

THE COURT:  All right, thank you. 

MS. DWIGGINS:  And I hope I answered your question. 

THE COURT:  Thank you, uh-huh. 

MR. WILLIAMS:  Your Honor, I don't feel the need to respond to 

that, other than to say that -- 

THE COURT:  Right. 

MR. WILLIAMS:  -- the notes are before Your Honor.  You've 

seen them.   

They cover a lot more than what Ms. Dwiggins is talking about, 

but I'm not going to debate what evidence may or may not be coming into 

this case some time down the road.  The notes are what the notes are. 

THE COURT:  All right, thank you, folks.  I will issue a decision 

very shortly. 

MR. WILLIAMS:  Thank you, Your Honor. 

THE COURT:  All right, have good afternoon. 

MS. DWIGGINS:  Thank you, Your Honor. 

MR. FRIEDEL:  Thank you, Your Honor. 

[Proceedings concluded at 11:49 a.m.] 

* * * * * * * 
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